1981

Leigh Furniture And Carpet Company, A Utah Corporation v. T. Richard I Som, dba Richard's Fine Furnishings : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant T. Richard Isom by way of a Counterclaim against the Plaintiff Leigh Furniture & Carpet Company asserted that the Plaintiff tortiously breached the contractual relationship existing between the plaintiff and the defendant and interfered with defendant's business relationship.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial court denied plaintiff's motion for a directed verdict. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the defendant against the plaintiff for \$65,000.00 general damages and \$35,000 in Punitive damages. Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding

the Verdict and Motion for New Trial were denied. However, the Court granted a remittitur of \$22,000.00 on the award of punitive damages.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff Leigh Furniture & Carpet Company seeks to have the judgment of the lower court reversed, and judgment entered in favor of plaintiff and against the defendant, or in the alternative, be granted a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff, as the Seller and defendant as the purchaser entered into an "Agreement" dated May 14, 1970, wherein defendant sought to acquire the assets of a retail furniture business located in St. George, Utah. (R. p. 4) In addition the defendant leased from the plaintiff a portion of the building where plaintiff had previously conducted a retail furniture business. Furthermore, the "Agreement" granted to the defendant a conditional option to purchase the entire building. This "Agreement" is the focal point of the case and was prepared for the parties by Mr. Orville Isom, father of the defendant and legal counsel for the plaintiff.

Shortly following the execution of the "Agreement" disputes arose between the parties principally because of the interpretation of the "Agreement". A temporary resolution of the parties' disputes was achieved when the parties executed a supplemental "Agreement" dated September 28, 1972. (Exhibit No. 3). The primary

functions of the latter "Agreement" were to reduce the principal balance of the original contract, provide a means whereby defendant could solicit plaintiff's approval of a potential sale or transfer of the business then being conducted by the defendant, provide a means for obtaining financial records, and to solidify defendant's liability to the plaintiff for taxes paid by the plaintiff. At the time the supplemental agreement was signed in 1972 two lawsuits were pending concerning interpretation of the original "Agreement" and the parties agreed that those issues should be submitted to the Court.

Little, if any contact occurred between the parties following the September 28, 1972 "Agreement" until the summer of 1974, when defendant's counsel commenced solicitation of the plaintiff pertaining to potential investors who were purportedly interested in investing in defendant's business. The solicitation was instigated because of the unprofitability of the defendant's business. Although plaintiff approved of several of defendant's solicitations (Tr. p. 518-542), and disapproved of others (Tr. p. 542), defendant's solicitations eventually centered upon one individual -- Brent Talbot. Mr. Talbot, however, repeatedly denied any interest in the defendant's business and so informed agents of the plaintiff. (Tr. p. 561-580).

Believing its security to be in jeopardy and believing that defendant was in default in performing the provisions of the May 14, 1970 "Agreement" plaintiff filed a Complaint with the District Court seeking a termination of the defendant's interest in the

"Agreement" or in the alternative an audit of defendant's financial condition. (R. p. 1-8). Following the filing of the Complaint the defendant notified the plaintiff that the sum of \$27,000.00 was being deposited with an escrow as payment of the balance of the "Agreement," and said sum was available for the plaintiff upon plaintiff's agreement to the conditions of such tender. Plaintiff refused the conditions of the offer.

A hearing on plaintiff's petition for injunctive relief was heard by the Court before Judge Burns. Both plaintiff and defendant were present and represented by counsel. Following the receipt of evidence and arguments the Court ruled in favor of the plaintiff granting plaintiff's contractual right to an audit of defendant's business and providing certain safeguards to the defendant. (R. p. 15-a). The audit was undertaken by Mr. Rod Savage, CPA (which, incidently, produced several major discrepancies between the statements prepared by the defendant and actual audited figures. See Savage testimony Tr. pp. 583-605) but before the same was concluded the defendant filed bankruptcy on April 4, 1975 (R. p. 20). Defendant's bankruptcy schedules showed him, and hence his business, to be substantially insolvent. (Tr. p. 595-596).

Following defendant's discharge in bankruptcy in April of 1977 the defendant filed a motion to amend his answer to the plaintiff's Complaint and to file a Counterclaim. (R. p. 22). Furthermore, the defendant sought to impress a trust upon the real estate described in the 1970 "Agreement". (R. p. 29) With reference to that effort plaintiff filed a Motion for partial Summary Judgment. (R.

p. 31). The Court again took evidence and heard arguments from the parties and granted plaintiff's motion (R. p. 45), finding that if defendant had any interest in the real estate under the contract he could seek it through money damages. After this, nothing happened in the case for over 18 months.

Prior to trial plaintiff presented an oral motion in limine to seek the Court's interpretation of defendant's theory under his Counterclaim. The Court ruled that defendant's action was in tort and not for tortious breach of contract and ruled that evidence concerning breach of contract was not relevant to the case. Notwithstanding such a ruling the case was tried and submitted to the jury substantially, if not wholly, upon evidence purportedly sustaining a breach of contract rather than a tort.

The plaintiff, believing that defendant was in default of the terms and conditions of the "Agreement" filed its action for breach of contract and admitted at trial that it desired a change. However, filing the lawsuit to seek judicial determination of its claims was the only action plaintiff took. Defendant maintained that such action together with other alleged actions tortiously interfered with his contractual and business relations but did not identify one party whom plaintiff interfered with to defendant's detriment. (Tr. p. 420-421).

ABSTRACT OF WITNESSES

The following is a short synopsis of the testimony of the witnesses called by both plaintiff and defendant at trial including

the pages in the transcript where such testimony can be found.

1. Orville Isom

a) Direct: Transcript pp. 88-171. Preliminary discussion with plaintiff re sale of St. George Store; that defendant wanted to move back to Utah; Agreement drawn up to sell to Richard individually; descriptions of the lease provisions; discussion of who was to pay the obligations of the Company after January 1, 1970; discussions of Richard's difficulties with the business; desire of Richard to sell the building; discussion of the audit; Leigh told Orville to bring Brent Talbot into business. Mr. Leigh didn't want Hayes Hunter as an investor in the business; description of the supplemental agreement dated September 28, 1972; discussion of first lawsuits filed by Leigh against Richard, suit by Moss against Leigh and Richard for furnace repair; discussion of letter to Howe re bringing Talbot into business; Leigh's statement that he must have been crazy to get involved in this 10 year lease; Leigh said he would not okay Brent Talbot; appraisal of the St. George property; Orville's surprise at Leigh's suit seeking an audit.

b) Cross-Exam: Transcript pp. 171-231. Orville's desire initially to withdraw; exclusion from the sale of Laney's property; Orville's assurances that Laney would be paid in stock; Orville's acknowledgement of a moral obligation to pay Laney, but admissions that Laney was never paid in fact; Orville's loans of \$27,000.00 to the business; discussion

of Richard's lack of expertise and need to bring someone into the business; security interest of Leigh Furniture Co.; Orville did not include an escalator clause in the agreement; Orville did not know of or include in the agreement provisions to take care of Laney; Orville admits he told Leigh he would take care of Laney through cash payments; Orville got permission to bring in Graf & Hence; discussion of Talbot being brought in, Orville maintained Talbot said he wanted to come in; Talbot to become lessee of entire building; rent never in arrears two months; Orville familiar with the Company's financial condition.

c) Re-Direct: Transcript pp. 231-262. Richard not two months in arrears on lease payments as Complaint alleges; monthly financial statements were supplied; Mr. Talbot not interested in coming into the business; discussion of Leigh's obligation to pay portion of rent and utility bills, and Leigh's default in such payments.

d) Re-Cross: Transcript pp. 262-266. The May 14th agreement was still to be performed.

2. Mr. Clark Houston.

a) Direct: Transcript pp. 266-274. Mr. Houston's appraisal of the property; property worth \$133,000.00 encumbered by Leigh's leasehold interest (vs. \$175,000.00 free of that interest).

b) Cross-Exam: Transcript pp. 274-277. Both Leigh and

the pages in the transcript where such testimony can be found.

1. Orville Isom

a) Direct: Transcript pp. 88-171. Preliminary discussion with plaintiff re sale of St. George Store; that defendant wanted to move back to Utah; Agreement drawn up to sell to Richard individually; descriptions of the lease provisions; discussion of who was to pay the obligations of the Company after January 1, 1970; discussions of Richard's difficulties with the business; desire of Richard to sell the building; discussion of the audit; Leigh told Orville to bring Brent Talbot into business. Mr. Leigh didn't want Hayes Hunter as an investor in the business; description of the supplemental agreement dated September 28, 1972; discussion of first law-suits filed by Leigh against Richard, suit by Moss against Leigh and Richard for furnace repair; discussion of letter to Howe re bringing Talbot into business; Leigh's statement that he must have been crazy to get involved in this 10 year lease; Leigh said he would not okay Brent Talbot; appraisal of the St. George property; Orville's surprise at Leigh's suit seeking an audit.

b) Cross-Exam: Transcript pp. 171-231. Orville's desire initially to withdraw; exclusion from the sale of Laney's property; Orville's assurances that Laney would be paid in stock; Orville's acknowledgement of a moral obligation to pay Laney, but admissions that Laney was never paid in fact; Orville's loans of \$27,000.00 to the business; discussion

of Richard's lack of expertise and need to bring someone into the business; security interest of Leigh Furniture Co.; Orville did not include an escalator clause in the agreement; Orville did not know of or include in the agreement provisions to take care of Laney; Orville admits he told Leigh he would take care of Laney through cash payments; Orville got permission to bring in Graf & Hence; discussion of Talbot being brought in, Orville maintained Talbot said he wanted to come in; Talbot to become lessee of entire building; rent never in arrears two months; Orville familiar with the Company's financial condition.

c) Re-Direct: Transcript pp. 231-262. Richard not two months in arrears on lease payments as Complaint alleges; monthly financial statements were supplied; Mr. Talbot not interested in coming into the business; discussion of Leigh's obligation to pay portion of rent and utility bills, and Leigh's default in such payments.

d) Re-Cross: Transcript pp. 262-266. The May 14th agreement was still to be performed.

2. Mr. Clark Houston.

a) Direct: Transcript pp. 266-274. Mr. Houston's appraisal of the property; property worth \$133,000.00 encumbered by Leigh's leasehold interest (vs. \$175,000.00 free of that interest).

b) Cross-Exam: Transcript pp. 274-277. Both Leigh and

Isom knew of Houston's appraisals; Houston accepted employment by Isom, too, although he was employed by Leigh.

c) Re-Direct Exam: Transcript pp. 277-278. The value of the leasehold interest is \$45,000.00 vs. the \$42,000.00 previously testified to.

3. Frank K. Stuart

a) Direct: Transcript pp. 278-279. (Expert witness on business and economic expectancies).

4. Mr. T. Richard Isom

a) Direct: Transcript pp. 280-285. Richard's tax returns accurate to best of his knowledge but later admitted the financial statements were incorrect.

5. Mr. Frank K. Stuart

a) Direct: Transcript pp. 285-314. Discussion of methods appraisers use to estimate a firm's value; certain assumptions and hypothetical questions posed to Mr. Stuart; as an expert Mr. Stuart had never valued a retail establishment in Southern Utah.

b) Cross-Exam: Transcript pp. 314-322. Stuart did not take account of inventory in valuation; Stuart did not consider entire entrepreneurial capacity of Richard Isom in his valuation.

6. Mr. T. Richard Isom

a) Re-Direct: Transcript pp. 323-330. Richard quit job in Seattle that paid more than his job with the store in St. George; but he came back to St. George because that's where he wanted to live; discussion re Richard's buying of the business.

7. Mr. Garn Huskinson

a) Direct: Transcript pp. 331-353. Mr. Huskinson priced the inventory, and bank balances as part of his audit of Richard's fine furnishings.

8. T. Richard Isom

a) Re-Direct: Transcript pp. 354-405. Richard knowingly entered into the lease; when Richard took over the business he cut expenses and concentrated on sales; began having problems of interpretation of contract within a year after contract was signed; problems with the furnace, waterheater; Leigh came to store and complained of not getting financial statements; Mr. Leigh was hostile to Isom; such hostility would "wring Isom out"; Richard began sending quarterly reports when he found out he was supposed to under the Contract; Mrs. Leigh also had a demoralizing effect on the operation of the business by asking Richard questions; Richard let a friend stay above the business, but denies it was subletting; the Laney lawsuit came up during Richard's Christmas season; Richard was beginning to make a profit with the ultimate intention of buying the business; Richard made lease payments through 1974; Richard paid utility bills by deducting them from the rent checks; Richard raised the \$27,000.00 to buy out Leigh contingent on certain terms, but then learned of complaint filed by Leigh; Richard filed bankruptcy; Richard tried to get Applegate in the business; Leigh never responded to his request to bring Applegate in.

b) Cross'Exam: Transcript pp. 405-458. It was Mr. Hayfen's fault that Leigh didn't get financial statements; Richard felt no need to replace sewing machines, despite such a provision in the contract; Richard agreed with Orville to "take care of" Laney; but Laney refused their attempts; Richard admits he never paid Laney; Ashdown & Mrs. Leigh visited Richard "many, many times"; Leigh et al demand things not required in the contract; Richard filed bankruptcy solely because of Leigh's actions; decision to close doors was Richard's; Richard admits he was under obligation to replace inventory; the \$27,000.00 was put in the bank, with conditions that Leigh must fulfill to get it.

c) Re-Direct: Transcript pp. 458-468. Richard would not have closed the business without the many complaints.

d) Re-Cross Exam: Transcript p. 468. Conflict between inventory amounts on balance sheet and on bankruptcy petition.

9. Eldon Ashdown

a) Direct: Transcript pp. 476-481. The only reason Ashdown occasionally saw Isom was to get him to bring his account up to date; Ashdown never made threats to Isom, never harrassed him.

b) Cross Exam: Transcript pp. 481-489. Ashdown never went into the store to interrupt Isom or harrass him; never interrupted him when he was with customers.

10. Mrs. Grace Leigh

a) Direct: Transcript pp. 489-492. Mrs. Leigh never

talked to Richard on any trip to St. George in 1972; she never threatened him either.

b) Cross Exam: Transcript pp. 492-496. Purpose of going to St. George was to take care of Leigh's 17 apts.; Mrs. Leigh never went into the store on her visits to St. George.

11. Mr. William S. Leigh

a) Direct Exam: Transcript pp. 496-523. Mr. Leigh agreed not to go into the store for 3-1/2 months after Richard took over; He was only in Utah 4 or 5 days during 1971; maybe the same in 1970; there was no problem with the furnace before, when it was properly taken care of; the lawsuit over the furnace was brought because it was Richard's obligation to pay for the furnace; he told Richard it was a breach of contract to shut off the parking lot the way he had done.

b) Cross Exam: Transcript pp. 523-553. Orville told Leigh to stay away from Richard and the store; Leigh had little contact with Richard after that; Leigh was occasionally on the store property to deal with his apartments; Leigh told Richard he would contact people in California about selling them the business if Richard didn't live up to the terms of the contract; Leigh did tell Richard that he would "cancel him out" if he didn't live up to terms of the lease agreement, but only because Richard was not keeping up his end of the agreement; Mr. Leigh didn't approve of Hayes Hunter to come into the business.

12. Brent Talbot

a) Direct Exam: Transcript pp. 553-569. Mr. Talbot was not interested in Mr. Isom's offers from him to come into the business; he never told Leigh that he was interested in going into the business.

b) Cross Exam: Transcript pp. 569-583. Mr. Talbot at no time encouraged Mr. Isom into thinking he (Mr. Talbot) would ever be interested in coming into the business.

13. Ron Savage

a) Direct Exam: Transcript pp. 583-596. No January 31, 1975 balance sheet was ever prepared by the business; the February 28th balance sheet was not prepared until April 4, 1975.

b) Cross Exam: Transcript pp. 596-603. Richard was very responsive and cooperative regarding the audits.

c) Re-Direct: pp. 603-604.

REBUTTAL EXAM

14. Richard Isom

a) Rebuttal Exam: Transcript pp. 605-609. Mr. Isom had no liquidation sale in 1975; Mr. Talbot had conversations indicating he might come into the business.

b) Cross-Exam on Rebuttal: Transcript pp. 609-610.

c) Re-Direct Exam on Rebuttal: Transcript pp. 610-611. Isom sustained loss ever since "things" with Leigh began.

15. Mr. Orville Isom

a) Direct Rebuttal Exam: Transcript pp. 611-616. Orville

and Talbot went to Premises (store) to discuss Talbot's coming into the business; Talbot mentioned that if he were going to buy part of the business, he would like to look at the vacant apts; Talbot also went all through the store to look at it;

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is the right of every person in society to enter contracts for any lawful purpose. Correlative to that right is the duty of the parties once they enter the contract to fulfill their obligations thereunder and uphold their ends of the bargain. As a protection and enforcer of these rights and duties it is the right of contracting parties to enforce their contracts by appeal for redress to the courts.

But when parties seek to enforce their claims in court they must follow established rules of procedure and state a precise claim upon which relief can be granted. If a party chooses, for example, to plead his/her case in contract instead of properly pleading it in tort, and yet refuses to plead the tort remedy in the alternative so as to cover all possible bases of relief, he/she assumes the risk that his/her single claim will fail and that he/she will be left without the remedy sought. The same rule applies to the person who pleads in tort a claim that should be plead in contract as was done by the defendant in the case at bar.

Contrary to the trial court's ruling and the defendant's plea in his counterclaim, the law of torts has not expanded to cover

breach of contract actions. Hence, permitting recovery in this case for a claim based in tort which ought properly to be plead in contract, if indeed there is even a basis for such a plea, is wholly improper and must not be allowed by this court.

ARGUMENT

- I. BASED UPON ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLES OF TORT LAW THAT A PARTY TO A CONTRACT CANNOT HIMSELF TORTIOUSLY INTERFERE THEREWITH, DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT PLAINTIFF TORTIOUSLY INTERFERED WITH DEFENDANT'S CONTRACTUAL OR BUSINESS RELATIONS MUST FAIL FOR LACK OF A SHOWING THAT THERE EXISTED A THIRD PARTY CONTRACT

In pre-trial hearings, defendant attempted to clarify the nature of his counterclaim and to specify that it was an action in tort for interference with his contractual or business relations. The Common law historical origin of this tort, as well as modern expert treatises and case law demonstrate that the tort of interference with contractual or business relations requires that the interferor be a third party, a stranger to the contract or business relations. Indeed, defendant's claimed cause of action here is nothing more than a breach of contract action erroneously and misleadingly clothed in the form of a tort. Such a confused claim must be denied by this Court.

- A. The Tort of Interference With Contractual or Business Relations Requires That The Contract Upon Which The Action Is Based Be With A Third Party.

The tort of interference with contractual or business relations developed at common law as a remedy for those whose contracts had

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