1981

Leigh Furniture And Carpet Company, A Utah Corporation v. T. Richard I Som, dba Richard's Fine Furnishings : Brief of Defendant-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant attempts to re-argue the evidence before this Court, ignoring the substantial evidence in the record contrary to Appellant's claims. A proper review of the entire record will support the jury verdict.

Appellant was properly held liable for tortious interference and intermeddling in Respondent Isom's business expectancies and prospective economic advantages. One who engages in a concerted course of conduct to force another out of business by harassment and tortious conduct is liable to the one injured for the native consequences of the result he intended. There is also ample evidence to support the finding that the Appellant in no way was privileged.

Relating to Respondent's cross appeal, the trial court erred when it invaded the "sound discretion" of the jury by deciding to a remittitur of punitive damage simply because "a reasonable ratio" is twenty percent.

The jury verdict of \$65,000 compensatory damages and \$35,000 punitive damages awarded to Respondent should be reinstated in its entirety. The trial court's remittitur should be reversed and in all other respects the matter should be affirmed.

POINT I

THE JURY VERDICT IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

Throughout its Brief, Appellant attempts to reargue the weight of the evidence presented to the jury. In so doing, Appellant ignores much of the evidence contrary to its claims. As specifically set forth in the foregoing Statement of Facts, the jury verdict is supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed by this Court.

Moreover, Appellant's Notice of Appeal indicates that Appellant appeals only from the denial of its "Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding Verdict or for New Trial." (R. 118) The standard of review for an appeal from the denial of Appellant's post-trial motion is whether the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to grant a new trial. Pollesche v. Transamerican Insurance Co., 27 U.2d 430, 497 P.2d 236 (1972). Appellant makes no showing here that there was any abuse of discretion by the trial court.

Therefore, the issue on appeal is whether the trial court properly submitted the case to the jury, considering the evidence in a light most favorable to Respondent Isom and the verdict. Schow v. Guardtone Inc., 18 U.2d 135, 417 P.2d 643 (1966); Whyte v. Christensen, 550 P.2d 1289 (Utah 1976). The jury had the exclusive duty to find the facts. In so finding, the jury may weigh, accept or reject any conflicting evidence as

it may choose. A jury finding for the claimant must be viewed as accepting the claimant's version of the transaction notwithstanding contrary evidence. Basin Electric Power Cooperative--Missouri Basin Power Project v. Howton, 603 P.2d 402 (Wyo. 1979).

"Reviewing courts will view the facts in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, will indulge in all reasonable inferences in support of the verdict and will disregard all inferences and evidence to the contrary." Terrel v. Duke City Lumber Co., Inc., 86 N.M. 405, 524 P.2d 1021 (1974), modified 540 P.2d 229 (1975)

This Court does not substitute its views for the jury's unless there is no competent evidence to support the verdict. Fillmore Products Inc. v. Western States Paving Inc., 592 P.2d 581 (Utah 1979); Snyderville Transportation Co., Inc. v. Christensen, 609 P.2d 939 (Utah 1980); Uinta Pipeline Corp. v. White Superior Co. 546 P.2d 885 (Utah 1976).

It is axiomatic that the reviewing court will presume that the jury believed the evidence which sustains its finding. Appellant's claims that Respondent had no business expectation or relationship or that the Appellant was justified in his malicious, intentional conduct were rejected by the finders of fact. Gossner v. Dairymen Association, Inc., 611 P.2d 713 (Utah 1980). It was the jury's prerogative to judge the credibility of the witnesses and determine the facts. Whether or not Respondent Isom had a reasonable expectation of business

success or advantage or whether Appellant acted reasonably or was justified were jury questions to be determined from the evidence in the record and, having been properly submitted to the jury, the latter's findings will not be interfered with on appeal. Moore v. Prudential Insurance Co. of America, 26 U.2d 43, 491 P.2d 227, 230 (1971).

Appellant has not demonstrated any "substantial prejudice" or "injustice." Bezner v. Continental Dry Cleaners, Inc., 548 P.2d 898, 901 (Utah 1976). Indeed, it appears to Respondent that "justice" has been well served in this matter by the jury's verdict. Therefore, the jury's verdict should be affirmed and reinstated in its full amount as hereinafter set forth.

POINT II

THE FINDING OF THE JURY THAT APPELLANT IS LIABLE TO ISOM FOR ITS INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE WITH ISOM'S BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

Appellant Leigh claims that Respondent's Counterclaim must fail because Respondent failed to prove a specific existing contract with a third party. (Appellant's Brief at 14-16) As previously cited, the evidence before the jury amply supports Respondent's claims that the actions of Leigh were designed and, in fact, did drive Richard Isom out of business, thereby terminating his business relationships with his customers and others. By greatly over simplifying of Respondent's claim and the developing law regarding interference with business relationships, Appellant mischaracterizes both. Throughout its Brief, Appellant merely attempts to knock down a "straw-man" of its own fabrication.

Although of comparative recent development, the law has long recognized that a broad range of economic relationships are entitled to its protection from unreasonable interferences. Many courts have tended to avoid a complete analysis of the problem and taken refuge in simplified formulas, thereby enshrouding the law in "a fog of catch words and rubber-stamped phrases" upon which Appellant attempts to rely. B. Izett, "Interference with Contracts at Will, A Problem of Public Policy," 25 Brooklyn L. R. 73, 74 (1957-59); Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts, §129, p. 927 (4th Edit., 1971).

By attempting to hide behind a purported lack of a valid, existing third-party contract, Appellant ignores the fact that

interference with a specific contract is merely a "subclass" of the responsibility imposed on those who intentionally interfere with business relationships. It is only one of several segments of the law in which damages may be recovered for unlawfully causing loss to a person in his business relationships.

Buckaloo v. Johnson, 122 Cal. Rptr. 745, 537 P.2d 865 (1975); Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts, §130, pp. 949-53 (4th Ed., 1971); Restatement of Torts, Second, Chapt. 37, §§766A, 766B, pp. 4-23 (1977); G. Alexander, Commercial Torts, §6.1, 6.4, pp. 337, 348 (1973); 1 F. Harper and F. James, Law of Torts, §6.5, pp. 489-495 (1956); J. Estes, "Expanding Horizons in the Law of Torts--Tortious Interference," 23 Drake Law Review 341, 342 (1973-74); F. Harper, "Interference with Contractual Relations," 47 Northwestern U. L. R. 873 (1953).

Included in this area of the law entitled to protection from wrongful interference are the expectancies of future contractual relations, the opportunity of obtaining and maintaining customers and the right to conduct and operate one's own business. Tuttle v. Buck, 107 Minn. 145, 119 N.W. 946, 947 (1909); Sumwalt Ice Co. v. Knickerbocker Ice Co., 114 Md. 403, 80 Atl. 48, 50 (Md., 1911); Guillory v. Godfrey, 134 C.A.2d 796, 286 P.2d 474 (1955); Williams v. Maloof, 157 S.E.2d 479 (Ga., 1969); Calbom v. Knudzton, 65 Wash.2d 157, 396 P.2d 148, 151-52 (1964); Shamhart v. Morrison Cafeteria Co., 159 Fla. 629, 32 So.2d 727 (1947); General Beverage Sales Co.--OSH KOSH v. East Side Winery, 396 F. Supp. 590 (E.D. Wis. 1975); F. Sayre, "Inducing Breach of Contract," 36 Harvard L. R. 663, 701-702

(1922-23); J. Dale, "Interference with Business Relation," 5 U.C.L.A. L. R. 341 (1958); 45 Am. Jur. 2d, Interference, §§49-51, pp. 321-24 (1964). Prosser recognizes that one of the business expectancies covered by the tort is "the opportunity of obtaining customers;" the loss resulting from interference can be measured by looking at the "background of business experience" rather than a specific, narrow relationship. Prosser, supra, at 950.

Society seeks to protect the interest of the individual in the security and integrity of business transactions and the freedom of the individual to make contracts. The law also draws a line beyond which no member of the community may go in interrupting contractual negotiations or otherwise intentionally intermeddling in the business affairs of others. Instead of the interest in the security of contracts already made, Respondent's interests to be protected are those of a reasonable expectation of economic advantage and a fair opportunity to conduct a legitimate business without interruption. 1 Harper and James, supra, at 510. Prosser, supra, at 949-51; 36 Harvard L. R., supra.

While this Court has in the past encountered cases involving interference with existing contractual relationships, Respondent is not aware of any case where a claim of interference with business expectancies or other relationship not solidified by contract has come before the Court. See Gammon v. Federated Milk Producers Association, Inc., 14 U.2d 291, 383 P.2d 402 (1963); Soter v. Wasatch Development Corp., 21 U.2d 224, 443

Appellant's confusion in this area of the law is readily apparent when viewing the inconsistencies of its argument. Appellant claims that Respondent failed to prove a specific third-party contract and that Appellant Leigh is not liable in tort for malicious conduct in breaching its own contract with Richard Isom. Even assuming that to be the case, such is a mischaracterization of Respondent's claim. The gravamen of Respondent's claims, as stated in the Counterclaim, is that by intentional, malicious conduct in breach of its contract with Isom, Appellant Leigh forced Isom out of his retail furniture business, achieving the very result he intended. Counterclaim, Appendix A.

More specifically, the evidence presented to the jury was conclusive that Leigh interfered with Richard's business by Leigh's complaints, harassment, falacious claims and lawsuits and threats to "kick Richard out." (R. 113, 118, 122, 133-35, 144-47, 155-57, 169, 185, 261; Exh. 65) Having received \$53,000.00 of the purchase price, Leigh deliberately refused to comply with his agreement to appoint an appraiser or to even respond to Richard's requests to associate others in his business. All this was motivated by Leigh's animosity for Richard and by an apparent compulsion to cancel the lease and take back the business so that Leigh could resell it and the property at a greater profit. (Tr. 158, 161, 213-16, 272-73, 547; Exh. 65)

Substantial evidence in the record indicates that Leigh's conduct adversely affected Isom's operation of the business and

his relationship with his customers. (Tr. 361, 363-64, 368-71, 386, 419-20, 466) And it cannot be ignored that, when left alone, Respondent was successful enough to turn Leigh's \$8,000.00 loss in 1970 into a \$5,500.00 net profit in 1972 and a \$17,000.00 net profit in 1973. (Tr. 388; Exhs. 47, 48) Isom's business continued profitable in 1974 until Leigh resumed his harassment tactics. (Tr. 386; Exh. 49) By the beginning of 1975, when served with the Complaint and Restraining Order, it was obvious to Isom that he could not continue when his time, attention and resources were being drained by Appellant. (Tr. 386, 393-98, 417, 421, 428-29, 455, 611)

Appellant does not seem to recognize that it substantially interfered with Respondent's valid business expectancies and potential economic advantages with Respondent's customers and suppliers--relationships to which Appellant was not a party. Certainly it would be reasonable to expect that absent Leigh's interference, Isom would continue a profitable business relationship with past and future customers and suppliers. Clark v. Figge, 181 N.W.2d 211, 213-14 (Iowa, 1970). Although Respondent showed substantial harm to his business resulting in bankruptcy, he need only have shown injury to economic relationships with only a "probability of future economic benefit." Buckaloo v. Johnson, supra, at 872.

Liability for interference with a business may be predicated upon conduct making performance of one's business more burdensome, more expensive, less profitable. Goodall v. Columbia Ventures Inc., 374 F. Supp. 1324, 1331 (S.D.N.Y., 1974); Lipman v. Brisbane

Elementary School District, 55 C.A.2d 224, 359 P.2d 465 (1961); North Carolina Mutual Life Insurance Co. v. Plymouth Mutual Life Insurance Co., 266 F. Supp. 231 (E.D. Pa., 1967); Scymanski v. Dufault, 80 Wash.2d 77, 491 P.2d 1050 (1972); Tippett, Jr. v. Hart, 497 S.W.2d 606 (Tex. App., 1973), aff'd 501 S.W.2d 874; 1 Harper & James, supra, at 499-500; Restatement of Torts, Second, §766B, p. 22; C. Carpenter, "Interference with Contract Relations," 41 Harvard L. R. 728 (1927-28).

Liability attaches to one who by his unlawful or belligerent conduct drives away or interferes with the customers of a business. Drouet v. Moulton, 245 C.A.2d 667, 54 Cal. Rptr. 278 (1966); Guillory v. Godfrey, supra; Twin Falls Farm & City Distributing, Inc. v. D&B Supply Co., Inc., 96 Ida. 351, 528 P.2d 1286, 1294 (1974); Shamhart v. Morrison Cafeteria Co., 159 Fla. 629, 32 So.2d 727 (1947); Prosser, supra, at 949. And, the interference by Appellant directly with Isom's business and Isom's performance of his relationships with his customers is just as much an actionable wrong to Respondent as an inducement of some breach by the third-party customer. Goodall v. Columbia Ventures, Inc., supra, 1 Harper & James, supra, at 500; Corbin, Contracts, §947; Restatement of Torts, Second, §766A, pp.8, 17; 23 Drake L. R., supra, at 883; 47 Northwestern U. L. R., supra, at 883.

The authorities universally agree that when interference with future or potential business relationships (including customers) or other economic advantage is shown, proof of a specific, existing contract is not necessary. Skeels v.

Universal C.I.T. Credit Corp., 335 F.2d 846, 848 (3d Cir., 1964); Buckaloo v. Johnson, supra, at 871; Azar v. Lehigh Corp., 364 So.2d 860 (Fla. App., 1978); Glenn v. Point Park College, 441 Pa. 474, 242 A.2d 895 (1971); King v. City of Seattle, 84 Wash.2d 239, 525 P.2d 228 (1974); Scymanski v. Dufault, supra, at 1054; Restatement of Torts, Second, §766B (1977); _____, "Intentional Interference with Basic Relations," 3 Rutgers L. R. 277, 278-79 (1948-49); 23 Drake L. R., supra, at 344.

In addition to the relationship between Isom and his "third-party" customers, Appellant also interfered with Isom's agreement and business relationship with Brent ^{Talbot}~~Hunter~~ in demanding that Richard agree to cancel his ten-year lease before Leigh would okay ^{Talbot}~~Hunter~~. (Tr. 169-70; Exhs. 26, 34) No reason was given for this refusal other than that Leigh wanted his property back, freed from Isom's option to purchase. Leigh also demanded that ^{Talbot}~~Hunter~~ contract directly with Leigh Furniture--at more favorable terms to Appellant, of course. (Exhs. 26, 31; Tr. 169, 213-16, 252) Leigh even tried to deal privately with ^{Talbot}~~Hunter~~, behind Isom's back. (Exh. 37)

Both Orville and Richard Isom testified that Richard had reached an oral agreement from ^{Talbot}~~Hunter~~ as to his association with Richard and the purchasing of the property. (Tr. 217, 457, 612-14) Whether the relationship between Isom and "third-party" ^{Talbot}~~Hunter~~ was an oral agreement or just still "prospective," it was still a relationship entitled to protection from Appellant's intermeddling and interference.

Appellant claims that because it did not induce the breach

of a third-party contract, Respondent had only a remedy for breach of contract. (Appellant's Brief at 25-26) Yet the authorities cited by Appellant do not support Appellant's position. For example, Corbin, Contracts, specifically states that breach of an implied promise not to prevent or hinder performance of the contract can be the basis for an action in tort.

. . . [A] and prevention or hindrance should clearly be regarded as wrongful. It is practically immaterial whether the implied promise is a fiction of the court to attain a desirable result or is a justifiable inference of fact. In some cases the wrongful conduct could have been treated as a tort; and it can still be so treated if the courts find it of advantage in the course of justice. . . . Corbin on Contracts, §947, p. 814.

Even as to the contract between Appellant and Respondent, Leigh's conduct in forcing Isom out of business was beyond a mere breach of contract.

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